ANNUAL SECTION 5309 NEW STARTS REPORT

CAPITAL AND OPERATING FINANCE PLAN Columbia River Crossing Project



September 2011

This report is submitted to FTA in compliance with annual New Starts reporting requirements. Finance plan is based on Preliminary Engineering, to date, and is subject to revisions based on further Preliminary Engineering and Final Design.



Title VI

The Columbia River Crossing project team ensures full compliance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 by prohibiting discrimination against any person on the basis of race, color, national origin, or sex in the provision of benefits and services resulting from its federally assisted programs and activities. For questions regarding WSDOT's Title VI Program, you may contact the Department's Title VI Coordinator at (360) 705-7098. For questions regarding ODOT's Title VI Program, you may contact the Department's Civil Rights Office at (503) 986-4350.

Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Information

If you would like copies of this document in an alternative format, please call the Columbia River Crossing (CRC) project office at (360) 737-2726 or (503) 256-2726. Persons who are deaf or hard of hearing may contact the CRC project through the Telecommunications Relay Service by dialing 7-1-1.

¿Habla usted español? La informacion en esta publicación se puede traducir para usted. Para solicitar los servicios de traducción favor de llamar al (503) 731-4128.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	The Integrated Multi-Modal Finance Plan: Authority	1
1.2	Overview of the Columbia River Crossing Project	2
1.3	CRC Project Roles and Responsibilities	4
1.4	CRC Project Capital Cost Estimate	5
1.5	CRC Project Finance Plan	6
1.6	Compliance with Capital Plan Rating Standards	8
1.7	Summary of the Agency-Wide Operations Plans for TriMet and C-TRAN	12
1.8	Compliance with Operations Finance Plan Rating Standards	15
1.9	Organization of Report	17
2	CRC PROJECT CAPITAL FINANCE PLAN	21
2.1	Background	21
2.2	Project Development Schedule	21
2.3	Capital Cost Estimates for Multi-Modal CRC Project	22
2.4	Proposed Capital Funding Sources	26
2.5	The Capital Finance Plan	37
3	TRIMET AGENCY-WIDE OPERATING FINANCE PLAN	41
3.1	Background	41
3.1 3.2	Background Revenues	41 43
	•	
3.2	Revenues	43
3.2 3.3	Revenues System Operating, Maintenance and Capital Costs	43 58
3.2 3.3 3.4	Revenues System Operating, Maintenance and Capital Costs System Cash Flow Analysis	43 58 76
3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5	Revenues System Operating, Maintenance and Capital Costs System Cash Flow Analysis Business Plan Forecast Results	43 58 76 77
3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6	Revenues System Operating, Maintenance and Capital Costs System Cash Flow Analysis Business Plan Forecast Results Sensitivity Analysis	43 58 76 77 77
3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 4	Revenues System Operating, Maintenance and Capital Costs System Cash Flow Analysis Business Plan Forecast Results Sensitivity Analysis C-TRAN AGENCY-WIDE OPERATING FINANCE PLAN	43 58 76 77 77 79
3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 4 4.1	Revenues System Operating, Maintenance and Capital Costs System Cash Flow Analysis Business Plan Forecast Results Sensitivity Analysis C-TRAN AGENCY-WIDE OPERATING FINANCE PLAN Background	43 58 76 77 77 79 79
3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 4 4.1 4.2	Revenues System Operating, Maintenance and Capital Costs System Cash Flow Analysis Business Plan Forecast Results Sensitivity Analysis C-TRAN AGENCY-WIDE OPERATING FINANCE PLAN Background Local Economy: C-TRAN District	43 58 76 77 77 79 79 80
3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 4 4.1 4.2 4.3	Revenues System Operating, Maintenance and Capital Costs System Cash Flow Analysis Business Plan Forecast Results Sensitivity Analysis C-TRAN AGENCY-WIDE OPERATING FINANCE PLAN Background Local Economy: C-TRAN District C-TRAN Operations Revenues	43 58 76 77 77 79 79 80 82
3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 4 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4	Revenues System Operating, Maintenance and Capital Costs System Cash Flow Analysis Business Plan Forecast Results Sensitivity Analysis C-TRAN AGENCY-WIDE OPERATING FINANCE PLAN Background Local Economy: C-TRAN District C-TRAN Operations Revenues C-TRAN Operating and Capital Expenses	43 58 76 77 77 79 79 80 82 88
3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 4 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5	Revenues System Operating, Maintenance and Capital Costs System Cash Flow Analysis Business Plan Forecast Results Sensitivity Analysis C-TRAN AGENCY-WIDE OPERATING FINANCE PLAN Background Local Economy: C-TRAN District C-TRAN Operations Revenues C-TRAN Operating and Capital Expenses Capital Revenues	43 58 76 77 77 79 80 82 88 101

COLUMBIA RIVER CROSSING PROJECT CAPITAL AND OPERATING FINANCE PLAN

1.0 INTRODUCTION

The Columbia River Crossing (CRC) Project is a bi-state, multi-modal transportation project serving the heaviest congested corridor in the rapidly growing Portland-Vancouver metropolitan region. The Project is currently in Preliminary Engineering; a complete application to enter Final Design is anticipated to be transmitted to FTA in April 2012.

The CRC Project is being developed as a single, multi-modal project and, as explained below, federal statutory language requires that the project finance plan be evaluated for New Starts rating purposes on the basis of being an integrated, multi-modal plan. Thus this report addresses the capital finance plan for the entire multi-modal Columbia River Crossing (CRC) Project, and the 20-year agency-wide operations finance plan for the two affected public transit districts -- C-TRAN (Vancouver, Washington) and TriMet (Portland, Oregon).

1.1 The Integrated Multi-Modal Finance Plan: Authority

The financial structure of the CRC Project is rooted in an integrated, multimodal project finance plan, which is facilitated by statutory language enacted in the *Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2010, Section 173 (H.R. 3288, December 9, 2009).* This statute requires USDOT to take into account the entire funding plan in rating the light rail transit component of the CRC project for New Starts funding. The statute also provides that the local match requirement for New Starts funds can be met by the entirety of local funding included in the integrated finance plan. Specifically, the federal statute states:

"Hereafter, for interstate multi-modal projects which are in Interstate highway corridors, the Secretary shall base the rating under section 5309(d) of title 49, United States Code, of the non-New Starts share of the public transportation element of the project on the percentage of non-New Starts funds in the unified finance plan for the multi-modal project: Provided, That the Secretary shall base the accounting of local matching funds on the total amount of all local funds incorporated in the unified finance plan for the multi-modal project for the purposes of funding under Section 53 of title 49, United States Code and title 23, United States Code: Provided further, That the Secretary shall evaluate the justification for the project under section 5309(d) of title 49, United States Code, including cost effectiveness, on the public transportation costs and public transportation benefits."

This statutory language was provided by FTA to the Subcommittee on Transportation, Housing and Urban Development, and Related Agencies of the Senate Appropriations Committee and was explained to mean that:

- The rating of the non-New Starts share component of the finance plan is based on the percentage that non-New Starts funds comprises of all revenues in the integrated finance plan, and
- The accounting of local match for FTA and FHWA funds is based on all local funds incorporated in the integrated finance plan.

1.2 Overview of the Columbia River Crossing Project

The Columbia River Crossing (CRC) Project includes the following improvements; which are described in more detail in the paragraphs that follow.

- The new river crossing over the Columbia River
- Highway improvements to I-5 north and south of the river, including reconstruction of highway interchanges.
- Extension of light rail from the Expo Center in Portland to Clark College in Vancouver
- Bicycle and pedestrian improvements;
- Tolling the I-5 Bridge over the Columbia River.

1.2.1 Columbia River Crossing Bridge

The CRC Project includes construction of new bridges across the main channel of the Columbia River and three new structures across North Portland Harbor, along with improvements to the existing bridge across North Portland Harbor.

The parallel bridges that form the existing I-5 crossing over the Columbia River would be replaced by two new parallel bridges. The eastern structure would accommodate northbound highway traffic on the bridge deck, with a bicycle and pedestrian path underneath; the western structure would carry southbound traffic, with a two-way light rail guideway below. Whereas the existing bridges have three lanes each with virtually no shoulders, each of the new bridges would be wide enough to accommodate three through-lanes; two add/drop lanes, and full-width shoulders. A lift-span would no longer be required. The existing highway structures over North Portland Harbor would not be replaced; instead, they would receive seismic upgrades and would be widened to accommodate all mainline I-5 traffic. In addition, parallel structures would be built across the waterway to provide highway access and access to Hayden Island.

1.2.2 Highway Improvements

The CRC Project includes improvements to seven interchanges along a 5-mile segment of I-5 between Victory Boulevard in Portland and SR 500 in Vancouver. These improvements include some reconfiguration of adjacent local streets to complement the new interchange designs, as well as new facilities for bicyclists and pedestrians.

1.2.3 Light Rail Extension

The CRC Project includes a 2.9-mile extension of TriMet's MAX (light rail) "Yellow Line" across the North Columbia Harbor, across Hayden Island in Oregon, across the Columbia River, through downtown Vancouver, Washington, ending near Clark College. The Project includes a total of five new stations; one in Oregon and four in Washington.

Starting from the Expo Center MAX station, the double track alignment would curve toward I-5. North of Marine Drive the profile would rise as the guideway transitions onto a bridge structure to cross the North Portland Harbor. A station would be constructed on Hayden Island. From the station, the LRT guideway would transition from its own alignment onto the new highway/LRT bridge over the Columbia River. The new bridge actually consists of two parallel bridges. One bridge is designed for southbound highway traffic on the upper level and both the northbound and southbound LRT on the lower level. The other bridge would be designed to accommodate northbound highway traffic as well as bicycles and pedestrians.

After crossing the Columbia River, the LRT alignment would curve northwards from the highway bridge onto its own approach structure in the State of Washington. The double-track alignment would reach grade prior to the intersection with 5th Street (there would be a LRT station between 5th and 6th Streets), and continue north to 7th Street where the northbound guideway would traverse two blocks east to Broadway and turn northward into the Broadway Street right-of-way. There would be a 570-space structured park-and-ride near SR-14. The LRT alignment would then form a couplet with the southbound guideway on Washington Street and the northbound guideway on Broadway Street.

The couplet would traverse ten blocks north to 17th Street. There are two stations on the couplet, each with a northbound platform on Broadway and a corresponding southbound platform on Washington. There would be two platforms on Washington: one at 9th Street and another at 15th Street. There would also be two platforms on Broadway: one between 9th Street and Evergreen Blvd and one between 15th and 16th Streets. In addition, there would be a 420 space structured park-and-ride lot near Mill Plain and 15th Street.

On 17th Street, a double-track guideway would traverse in the center of the street. The double-track guideway alignment would continue eastward approximately nine blocks crossing under I-5 and ending at a station in McLoughlin Boulevard east of I-5. This station would be on the western boundary of Clark College and would include a 1,910 space structured park-and-ride.

1.2.4 Bicycle and Pedestrian Improvements

The CRC Project includes a variety of bicycle and pedestrian improvement, including the multi-use pathway across the Columbia River, street improvements around the rebuilt interchanges, and facilities for bicyclists and pedestrians around the new light rail stations and park and rides.

1.2.5 Tolling

The CRC project incorporates all-electronic toll collection (ETC). ETC allows tolls to be collected without stopping traffic at tollbooths to pay tolls. Instead, customers would have two methods of payment. Customers with a transponder would be identified electronically as they travel; charges would be transmitted to a computer system that would automatically invoice vehicle-owner's account. Customers without a transponder would pay via a license plate recognition (pay-by-plate) system that either (i) matches the license plate to a customer account or (ii) identifies and invoices the vehicle's owner by mail. Customers with a transponder would pay the base "Transponder Rate" for that vehicle type and time of day. Vehicles without a transponder would pay the base toll rate charged to vehicles with a transponder for that vehicle type and time of day plus a "pay-by-plate" surcharge.¹ ETC has several advantages over traditional toll collection methods:

- Electronic toll collection avoids the need to stop drivers at tollbooths to pay cash tolls; instead, traffic remains free-flowing at highway speeds.
- The absence of toll plazas reduces potential displacement impacts, and noise and air quality impacts caused by vehicle acceleration/deceleration in toll plaza areas.
- Electronic toll collection eliminates the need for cash handling and cash transport.
- The cost of collection is lower for transponders than staffed booths, and the additional costs of license plate collection are recovered with the surcharge fee.

1.3 CRC Project Roles and Responsibilities

The multi-modal project will be financed and developed by a project team consisting of Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT), Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT), Tri-County Metropolitan Transportation District of Oregon (TriMet), and the Clark County Public Transportation Benefit District Authority (C-TRAN), as well as partnering local and regional jurisdictions in Oregon and Washington. The basic roles of each of the major project partners are summarized below:

¹ The terms "administrative fee" or "processing fee" are sometimes used in lieu of the term "surcharge" when referring to the additional fee applied to pay-by-plate transactions to offset the additional collection costs of this method of payment. The assumed amount is the estimated average additional cost of collection. The actual surcharge or fee would be set as part of the formal toll rate setting process, and may depend on the methods required to collect the toll.

	Construction	Operations
WSDOT	FTA Grantee for transit grants. Lead agency for overall multi-modal project. Responsible for design and construction of Columbia River bridge and highway improvements in Washington.	Assigns ownership of transit improvements to C-TRAN and TriMet, as applicable. Responsible with ODOT for maintaining bridge structure shared with transit. Establishes highway toll rates with ODOT; collects and disburses toll revenues.
ODOT	Co-lead of overall multi-modal project. Responsible for design and construction of highway improvements in Oregon.	Responsible for maintaining bridge structure with WSDOT; and maintaining highway improvements in Oregon. Establishes toll rates with WSDOT; shares in toll revenues.
TriMet	As sub-recipient under WSDOT (grantee) and under the overall project management of WSDOT, TriMet manages design and construction of LRT elements, other than the shared Columbia River bridge structure that will be directly managed by the DOTs.	TriMet will operate and maintain the LRT in Oregon and, under an agreement with C- TRAN, in Washington. O&M costs share based on allocation methodology. LRT passenger revenues and Modernization grants also shared. TriMet operates connecting bus service in its district. TriMet and C-TRAN establish mutual bi-state fares and passes. Each accepts transfers from other district.
C-TRAN	C-TRAN works with TriMet on design and construction of LRT elements; as prospective owner of CRC LRT assets in Washington holds co-approval rights on design and construction issues.	C-TRAN approves LRT service policy approval with TriMet. LRT O&M costs, passenger revenues, and Modernization grants shared. C-TRAN operates connecting bus service in its district. TriMet and C-TRAN establish mutual bi-state fares and passes. Each accepts transfers from other district. Performs some LRT- related operations, such as manages park- and-rides, maintains stations in Washington, etc.

 Table 1-1

 Outline of General Roles and Responsibilities for CRC Project (1)

(1) Assumptions underlying New Start submittal. Concepts are being refined and are subject to final agreement by the applicable parties.

1.4 CRC Project Capital Cost Estimate

WSDOT uses the Cost Estimate Validation Process (CEVP), a risk-based methodology, to develop capital cost estimates for all major projects it undertakes. CEVP produces a distribution of cost estimates reflecting the confidence that a cost estimate will not be exceeded. WSDOT typically uses the 60% CEVP cost estimate for finance planning purposes (i.e.; there is a 60% probability the cost estimate will not be exceeded without managing risks). This capital finance plan uses the 90% CEVP cost estimate; considerably more conservative than the typical assumption

CEVP utilizes a detailed base cost estimate comprising over 1,000 line-items defined by capital element and area. A unit-cost, lump sum, or percentage is designated for each line item based on the recent cost experience of WSDOT, ODOT, TriMet, and other data bases and applicable quantities are estimated. The activities feeding into the line-item costs are then connected into a critical path chart based on a baseline project development schedule. CEVP then applies a project-specific array of potential scope risks, cost risks,

schedule risks, and inflation factors to yield a probability curve of total cost estimates in year-of-expenditure dollars.

FTA requires cost estimates for New Starts review to be reported in Standard Cost Categories (SCC) and to include an amount of contingency that FTA finds appropriate for the project's stage of development. Thus the CEVP costs estimates for the CRC Project must be converted to fit FTA requirements. The process for developing the SCC-formatted cost estimate began with the detailed, line-item base cost estimates developed through CEVP. Each line-item was assigned an allocated contingency defined by a percentage of line-item cost, with the percentage guided by past project experience. The contingency allocated to individual line-items plus additional unallocated contingency yielded a total project contingency of 27.6% of the base cost (or about 21.7% of total cost (i.e. base plus contingency). The resulting base cost and contingency by line-item was then rolled-up into the applicable SCC categories. These cost estimates by SCC category were then converted to year-of-expenditure costs by applying the most recent inflation factors developed by WSDOT for construction, engineering, and right-of-way. The resulting project cost by SCC is shown below in Table 1-2.

Standard Cost Category	Total Cost
10 Guideway & Track Elements	\$1,159.0
20 Stations, Stops, Terminals & Intermodal	\$115.0
30 Support Facilities: Yards, Shops & Admin Buildings	\$44.6
40 Sitework & Special Conditions	\$625.1
50 Systems	\$82.4
60 Right-of-Way & Land Improvements	\$202.7
70 Vehicles	\$105.8
80 Professional Services	\$436.0
90 Unallocated Contingency	\$220.0
Total Project Cost in Base Year (2011) Dollars (without Finance Costs)	\$2,990.5
Escalation	\$447.9
100 Finance Costs (in YOE Dollars)	\$69.5
Total Project Costs in YOE Dollars	\$3,507.9

Table 1-2 Multi-Modal CRC Project Cost by SCC In Millions of Dollars

1.5 CRC Project Finance Plan

Section 2 of this report details the capital finance plan for the multi-modal CRC Project. Table 1-3, on the following page, summarizes this funding plan, which will continue to be refined during Preliminary Engineering and Final Design.

Costs	Total	Explanation
Transit Component Cost	\$944.0	Cost of PE, Final Design, ROW, construction, systems, and equipment for transit component of overall multi-modal CRC Project. Includes allocation of bridge cost and interest paid on interim borrowing required due to lagging New Start appropriations.
Highway Component Cost	\$2,563.9	Cost of PE, PS&E, ROW, construction, etc. for the highway, bicycle, pedestrian, and bridge (except of costs allocated to transit) components of the multi-modal project.
Total Project Cost	\$3,507.9	
Revenues		
ODOT/WSDOT: Existing	\$147.4 Committed	An aggregate total of \$225.2 million has already been committed to the project by ODOT and WSDOT; of which about \$77.8 million was spent prior to FTA approval to enter PE. This finance plan addresses only the post-PE approval costs and revenues. Thus, about \$147.4 million of state funding is currently committed to the project.
Federal Discretionary Highway	\$5.0 Committed \$395.0 Planned	Project seeking a total of \$400 million in highway discretionary funds from Projects of National and Regional Significance program or other programs. \$5 million currently committed from Interstate Maintenance Discretionary program.
ODOT/WSDOT: Additional	\$900.0 Planned	Finance plan seeks \$450 million additional (i.e.; beyond already committed) from each of ODOT and WDOT f during the 2012 legislative sessions. Washington governor implementing task force to make request; Oregon interim committee addressing proposal.
Proceeds for Toll Bond Borrowings (TIFIA Loan and State-Backed Bonds) repaid with Post-Completion Net Toll Revenues	\$1,004.9 Planned	I-5 bridges will be tolled and net revenues bonded to provide capital funding for project. Plan assumed toll revenues from post-completion tolling would be used to repay state-backed bonds and a \$500 million TIFIA loan. ODOT has authority to toll bridges; WSDOT seeking authority in 2012 Legislature. Low estimate of borrowing capacity is used in this plan.
Net Toll Revenues from Pre- Completion Tolling used on Cash Basis	\$204.4 Planned	Pre-completion toll revenues are from tolling the existing I-5 bridges prior to the completion of the new southbound bridge. Plan assumes these are used on cash basis. Low estimate of revenues is used in plan.
Net Residual Toll Revenues used on Cash Basis	\$1.2 Planned	Residual toll revenues are net revenues remaining after debt service, operations, and reserves are funded. Plan assumes these are used on cash basis. Low estimate of revenues is used in plan.
New Start Funds	\$850.0	Proposed New Starts Share
Total Project Revenues	\$3,507.9	

 Table 1-3

 Integrated Capital Finance Plan for the CRC Project

Details on each of these funding sources and references to appropriate back-up appendices are provided in Section 2 of this report.

1.6 Compliance with Capital Plan Rating Standards

The following summarizes how the CRC capital finance plan addresses the Capital Plan Rating Standards for New Starts for a project in Preliminary Engineering.

A. Non-Section 5309 New Starts Share

As explained earlier, the *Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2010, Section 173 (H.R. 3288, December 9, 2009)* mandates that the CRC be evaluated on the basis of its integrated, multi-modal finance plan. The language requires that rating of the non-New Starts share of the finance plan be based on the percentage that non-New Starts funds comprises of all revenues in the integrated finance plan. <u>The proposed New Starts share of the CRC Project finance plan is about 24%.</u>

B. Current Capital Condition

- Age of Bus Fleet:
 - <u>TriMet</u>: The average age of TriMet's bus fleet is 13 years. TriMet will replace 55 buses in FY12 and 40 buses per year throughout the forecast, lowering the average age of the fleet to 7.5 years.
 - <u>C-TRAN:</u> The average age of C-TRAN's fixed route bus fleet is currently 7.3 years; the average age of the paratransit fleet is 3.3 years.
- **Bond Rating** (Rating documents are provided in Appendix E, Exhibit 5):
 - <u>Washington:</u> The current (July 2011) credit ratings for State of Washington General Obligation (GO) Bonds are:
 - Fitch: AA+
 - Moody's Aa1
 - S&P AA+
 - <u>Oregon</u>: The current (May 2011) credit ratings for State of Oregon General Obligation (GO) Bonds are:
 - Fitch: AA+
 - Moody's Aa1
 - S&P AA+
 - <u>ODOT</u> The most recent (March/April 2010) credit ratings for ODOT highway user tax bonds are:
 - Moody's Aa1 on senior lien highway user tax revenue bonds
 - Fitch: AA+ on senior lien highway revenue bonds
 - S&P AAA on senior lien highway user tax revenue bonds

- Moody's Aa2 on subordinate lien highway user tax revenue bonds
- Fitch AA+ on subordinate lien highway revenue bonds
- S&P AA on subordinate highway user tax revenue bonds
- <u>TriMet</u> is not assumed to issue bonds for the CRC Project. However, TriMet Senior Lien Payroll Tax Revenue Bonds Series 2009 A (Tax-Exempt) and Series 2009B (Build American Bonds-Direct Payment), which sold September 1, 2009 were rated AAA by Standard and Poor's September 2009 and Aa3 by Moody's October 2009. Both rating were re-affirmed in March 2010. Moody's global rating change subsequently improved TriMet's rating to Aa2.
- <u>C-TRAN</u> has not issued debt, does not have a credit rating, and is not expected to issue any debt for the CRC Project.

C. Completeness of Capital Plan

- <u>CRC Project:</u> The assumptions underlying the CRC Project capital finance plan are documented in Section 2 of this report. The CRC Project capital finance plan is prepared on a cash flow basis, the details of which are documented in Appendix E, Exhibits 1-6.
- <u>TriMet</u>: TriMet's agency-wide capital plan is incorporated in its 20-year cash flow. Assumptions are detailed in Section 3 and Appendix A (in particular Table 9). Fleet management plans for TriMet buses and LRT are in Appendix F, Exhibits 1-2.
- <u>C-TRAN</u>: C-TRAN's agency-wide capital plan is included in its 20-year cash flow. Assumptions regarding replacement and improvement of rolling stock, facilities, and equipment are detailed in Section 4 and Appendix G, Tables 16-19. C-TRAN's Fleet management plan is included in Appendix F, Exhibit 3. Historic data on C-TRAN's capital improvement and replacement program is provided in Table 4-25.
- WSDOT's risk-based capital cost estimating methodology ("Cost Estimate Validation Process" or "CEVP") provides a probability distribution of capital cost estimates reflecting the confidence that a cost estimate will not be exceeded, based on an array of cost estimation risks and schedule risks. See *Columbia River Crossing CVEP Final Report, August 2011* (Appendix E, Exhibit 6). While WSDOT customarily uses the 60% CEVP as the basis of project finance plans, this finance plan is conservatively based on the 90% CEVP cost estimate (i.e.; 90% confidence that costs will not be exceeded without any mitigation of risks).
- Details of the analysis of the borrowing capacity from toll revenues are provided in Appendix E, Exhibits 4 and 10. The analysis incorporated a sensitivity analysis based on a range of estimates of traffic volumes and gross toll revenues. As explained below, the toll revenue analysis is based on several conservative assumptions.
- Historic and forecast information on regional population, employment, and other economic indicators is provided in Appendix D, Exhibit 4, Section 4.2, and Appendix J, Exhibit 1.
- Historical transit service information is provided in Appendix D, Exhibits 1-7, 11, and 13. Historical transit financial data is provided in Appendix C, Exhibits 1-2. In addition, service and financial data is provided throughout Sections 3 and 4.

D. Commitment of Capital Funds

- Approximately \$225.2 million has already been committed to the project in the aggregate by ODOT and WSDOT; of which about \$77.8 million was spent prior to FTA's approval to enter Preliminary Engineering (PE). This finance plan addresses only post-PE approval costs and revenues. Thus, about \$147.3 million of state funding is currently committed in the proposed finance plan.
- The capital finance plan for the CRC Project incorporates bond and loan proceeds and cash revenues from tolling the I-5 bridges. As a replacement bridge, there is federal statutory authority to toll the I-5 bridges under 23 U.S.C 129(a)(1)(C). ODOT currently has statutory authority to toll the I-5 bridges. WSDOT is 2/3^{rds} through a three-legislative session plan to secure its state authority to toll the I-5 bridges. It is following a process successfully used to secure tolling authority for the SR-520 project in the Seattle region. During the 2009 session the Washington legislature mandated that WSDOT undertake a technical analysis and outreach program regarding tolling the CRC Project and report back to the legislature in 2010. The technical study and outreach program were completed and a final report was submitted to the Governor and legislature in compliance with state law. WSDOT anticipates securing the operative toll authorization in the 2012 Legislature
- The capital finance plan incorporates \$450 million in state funds from each of ODOT and WSDOT, beyond the funding they have already committed. ODOT and WSDOT anticipate securing legislative approval of these additional funds in their 2012 legislative sessions. ODOT is currently working with a legislative interim committee and legislative leadership to prepare its 2012 request. Only legislative approval of the additional funding would be required in Oregon. In Washington, Governor Gregoire appointed and chairs a Task Force to structure its funding request for 2012. The Chairs and Ranking Members of the House and Senate Transportation Committees sit on the Task Force. Approval of state funding from Washington is likely to require voter approval, anticipated in November 2012.
- The capital finance plan incorporates \$400 million in highway discretionary funds, which could come from an array of discretionary funding programs. The project previously received \$44.3 million in discretionary highway funding from a combination of congressional earmarks and administrative grants. These funds were spent on project planning before entering PE. To secure the targeted amount of highway discretionary funds, funding from the Projects of National and Regional Significance (PNRS) program will be sought. The project would rate highly under the program's current criteria, as evidenced by the national importance historically placed on the project by FHWA. \$400 million is equivalent to the total amount of PNRS funds received by Oregon (\$160 million) and Washington (\$220 million) in SAFETEA-LU. So while \$400 is a large award, the two states in the aggregate have demonstrated ability to obtain this amount. In addition, the project recently received \$5 million from the 2011 Interstate Maintenance Discretionary (IMD) program, which counts toward the targeted \$400 million. Additional IMD funding will be sought.

E. Capital Cost Estimates and Planning Assumptions

- The capital cost estimate is based on the methodology and pricing factors described in *Basis of Capital Cost Report* shown in Appendix E, Exhibit 1, and the risk-based cost estimating process described in *Columbia River Crossing CEVP Final Report, August 2011* shown in Appendix E, Exhibit 6. Further explanation is provided in Section 2.
- Unit-costs and other capital cost assumptions for highway and bridge-component costs are based on the recent project cost experience of WSDOT, ODOT, and other construction cost data basses.
- Capital cost assumptions for the light rail component are consistent with recent experience with the I-205/Portland Mall Light Rail Project and those used to estimate the capital cost of the Portland-Milwaukie LRT Project.
- The computation of the interim borrowing costs resulting from the lag in Section 5309 New Start funding appropriations is described in Sections 2.3.2 and shown in Appendix E, Exhibit 3A. The interim borrowing cost is based on an assumed 5% interest rate; substantially higher than current rates for commercial paper, short-term fixed-rate borrowings, and index bonds that may be used in the final interim borrowing program.
- The finance plan uses several key conservative assumptions to ensure its feasibility:
 - WSDOT typically uses the 60% CEVP cost estimate for finance planning purposes (i.e.; there is a 60% probability the cost estimate will not be exceeded without managing risks). This capital finance plan uses the 90% CEVP cost estimate; considerably more conservative than the typical assumption.
 - While toll rates are anticipated to escalate over time, the forecast of borrowing capacity of the toll bonds and loans assumes no escalation of toll rates after the start of post-completion tolling in July 2018.
 - The assumed interest rate on the TIFIA loan is 5.50 percent; about 210 basis points higher than the 3.42 percent rate quoted on the TIFIA website as of August 19, 2011.
 - A 6.0% interest rate for Current Interest Bonds and a 7.25% interest rate for Capital Appreciation Bonds; about 140 basis points higher than current rates.
 - The finance plan uses the Low estimate of borrowing capacity; these estimates are \$190-\$276 million below the Medium and High estimate for post-completion toll borrowings and \$45-\$88 million for pre-completion net toll revenues.

F. Capital Funding Capacity

The plan for providing capital funding capacity to respond to unanticipated cost-revenue imbalances has four key elements, which are described below.

• Employ conservative assumptions regarding costs and revenues to reduce downside risks and provide a genuine opportunity to obtain additional funding capacity from the base finance plan

- Basing the finance plan on the 90% CEVP cost estimate, as opposed to the more routinely used 60% CEVP estimate, provides a potential cushion of about \$350 million to address capital cost overruns and/or funding under-runs.
- Subject to the results of the investment-grade tolling analysis, a pre-requisite to rating the debt, the current use of the Low estimate of toll revenues in the finance plan potentially allows for \$235-\$364 million of added capital funding from a combination of toll bonds, loans, and cash revenues.
- In addition, the current finance plan's conservative use of borrowing interest rates that are 140-210 basis points above current rates may translate into additional funding capacity when the debt is issued.
- Adjust project staging if required to rebalance the funding plan
 - Some highway improvements (i.e.; the interchanges not physically connected to the bridge) can be deferred if costs of core project elements exceed estimates. This would allow the funding associated with the deferred elements to be used for cost overruns/funding shortfalls on the core improvements.
 - The finance plan uses a relatively small amount of residual toll revenues; larger and on-going residual toll revenues are available, if required, to fund deferred project improvements on a cash basis or to support future borrowings.
- Adapt the toll rate schedule to different circumstances, if required to rebalance the funding plan
 - Analyses have shown that toll revenues can be increased by increasing toll rates within reasonable limits, if additional funding capacity is required.
- Manage resources within the highway trust fund to adapt to different circumstances
 - OSOT and WSDOT are experienced with reprogramming undedicated and noncommitted funds within their highway trust funds to respond to cash-flow needs.

1.7 Summary of the Agency-Wide Operations Plans for TriMet and C-TRAN

Because the CRC LRT would serve both the C-TRAN and TriMet districts, the agencywide plan for both operators are analyzed in this report. The assumed role and relationship between C-TRAN and TriMet with regard to the CRC Project is summarized in Table 1-1.

Like most other transit districts throughout the country, TriMet and C-TRAN are facing challenges caused by the economic downturn, and are in the process of executing plans to mitigate its impact. The plans of both districts are built to ensure adequate revenues are in place to operate the transit component of the CRC Project, including the connecting bus network, as well as to meet their agency-wide service, capital improvement, and capital replacement requirements. The background of these plans are summarized below and detailed in Sections 3 and 4 of this report:

1.7.1 TriMet

While the recent economic slowdown reduced TriMet's payroll tax revenues, historically TriMet's operating revenues have been stable, reliable, and growing. By responding decisively with cost reductions and revenue increases, TriMet has maintained fiscal stability throughout the recession. TriMet undertook service reductions in FY2010 and FY2011 to attenuate the long-term impact of the economic slowdown. These service reductions were less severe than those of most comparable districts. Moreover, even with these service reductions, between FY1991 and FY2011 the growth of fixed route service (adjusting rail vehicle hours for seating capacity) outpaced population growth by about a 2:1 ratio; transit service grew 79% while population grew by only 37%.

In FY2011 about 53 percent of TriMet's continuing operating revenues came from the employer payroll tax, self-employment tax, and the state "in-lieu" of payroll tax. These sources of revenue are dedicated to TriMet. The employer payroll tax is TriMet's largest source of revenue. Except during recessions, when employment declines, the employer payroll tax has grown faster than inflation, supplying real growth in revenues. The historic average underlying annual growth of employer payroll tax receipts for the last fifteen years has been 4.7% (the underlying rate excludes revenue growth from the tax rate increases). Underlying growth has averaged 2.9% per year for the past five years, a period that includes the impact of the 2007 recession.

The 2003 Oregon Legislature gave the TriMet Board the authority to increase the payroll tax on employers and self-employed individuals from 0.6218% to 0.7218% in 1/100th of one percentage point increments over a 10-year period. The TriMet Board approved the increases in 2004 and the first increase went into effect January 1, 2005. The payroll tax rate, effective January 1, 2011, is 0.6918%. See Appendix D, Exhibit 9 *Ordinance No. 279 Revising Payroll and Self-Employment Tax Rates; Amending Sections 13 and 14 of the TriMet Code.* The increase in the tax rate adds about 1.5% per year to the underlying growth rate.

In its 2009 session, the Oregon Legislature gave the TriMet Board the authority to increase the payroll tax rate for employers and self-employed individuals from 0.7218% to 0.8218%. See Appendix D, Exhibit 10 *Senate Bill 34*. The forecast assumes the TriMet Board would first levy the payroll tax rate increase authorized by SB 34 on January 1, 2015. After the tax increase is fully phased-in, the payroll tax rate would be 0.8218% as of January 1, 2024.

The TriMet 20-year agency-wide cash flow, detailed in Section 3 of this report, demonstrates that as planned TriMet can fund its share of operating the light rail extension to Clark County (and the Portland-Milwaukie LRT Project currently seeking Full Funding Grant Agreement approval), a program of service replenishment and expansion, and its capital improvement and replacement program, while maintaining a "cash and cash equivalent" reserve in excess of 12% of annual operating costs throughout the 20-year analysis period.

1.7.2 C-TRAN

Prior to 1999 C-TRAN operations were primarily funded with 0.3% (3/10th of 1 percent) sales and use tax and a Motor Vehicle Excise Tax (MVET) that matched the amount of revenue derived from the sales tax. Due to passage of a statewide initiative in 1999, C-TRAN lost its MVET funding. In response, C-TRAN implemented a Service Retention Plan, amended its boundaries to focus on urban routes, and passed a 0.2% (2/10th of 1 percent) increase in its sales and use tax rate (making the sales and use tax rate a total of 0.5%). Even though it continues to have an aggregate tax rate lower than that in 1999, C-TRAN has been able to avoid a major service reduction by employing a large reserve it created in the 1990s.

Under its enabling legislation as a Public Transportation Benefit Area (PTBA), C-TRAN may levy a "sales and use" tax of up to 0.9% (9/10^{ths} of 1 percent) for transit service and facilities in its district. Currently C-TRAN levies a 0.5% (5/10^{ths} of 1 percent) sales and use tax; with voter approval C-TRAN could impose an additional 0.4% tax under its PTBA authority. Washington statutes provide an additional taxing authority for High Capacity Transit (HCT) systems. RCW 81.104, commonly referred to as the HCT Act, allows a transit district to levy an additional 0.9% sales and use tax for a HCT system (beyond the tax rate allowed under the PTBA authority), subject to voter approval of a HCT systems plan that includes the tax as part of its finance plan.

The sales tax is the largest source of C-TRAN operating revenues comprising about 61% of all such revenues in 2010. In 2006, after C-TRAN's district boundary was changed to its current limits, each 0.1% of sales tax produced about \$5.2 million. In 2010 as a result of the recession, in particular the loss of construction activity, each 0.1% sales tax produced about \$4.4 million. The declines have bottomed-out; sales tax receipts in 2010 were up about 4% above 2009 levels.

In response to declining sales tax receipts and reserves, and public pressure to expand and improve service, C-TRAN prepared the *20-year Transit Development Plan*, which was adopted by the C-TRAN Board on June 8, 2010 (See Appendix H, Exhibit 10). The plan addresses capital improvement, capital replacement, and operating needs of the agency by seeking increases to the current sales and use tax rate. The C-TRAN Board has approved a funding measure for the November 2011 ballot that with voter approval would increase its sales and use tax rate under its PBTA authority by 0.2% (to a total of 0.7%) to preserve and expand its core bus and C-VAN services. (See Appendix D, Exhibit 12). The Board has also expressed its intent to seek a 0.1% sales and use tax under its HCT authority to fund light rail and bus rapid transit expansion.

The agency-wide operations and capital plan submitted hereunder reflects the recently adopted C-TRAN 20-year Transit Development Plan. The plan includes a continuous program of replacement and rehabilitation of equipment and vehicles; expansion of bus, paratransit and HCT service throughout the 20-year period, and provisions to fund the capital needs of the entire transit system as planned. The 20-year agency-wide cash flow demonstrates that as planned C-TRAN could fund its share of operating the light rail

component of the CRC Project, a program of service replenishment and expansion, and its capital improvement and replacement program, while maintaining a "cash and cash equivalent" reserve in excess of 12% of annual operating costs throughout the 20-year analysis period.

1.8 Compliance with Operations Finance Plan Rating Standards

The following summarizes how the Operations Finance Plan for TriMet and C-TRAN respond to the Federal Transit Administration's Operations Plan Rating Standards.

A. Current Operating Financial Condition

- <u>TriMet</u>: Historical and actual balanced budgets and financial reports are provided in Appendix I. Audited financial statements and budgets are provided showing historical positive net operating results and adequate cash reserves. Near term cash flow shortfalls caused by economic downturn were paid for with cash reserves. The operating ratio as of June 30, 2010 was 1.44. Service reductions were made in FY2010 and FY2011 to respond to economic downturn. However, even with the service reductions, the growth of fixed route service between FY1991 and FY2011, adjusting rail vehicle hours for seating capacity, has outpaced population growth by about 2:1; service has grown 79% while population has grown 37%.
- <u>C-TRAN</u>: Historical and actual balanced budgets and financial reports are provided in Appendix H, Exhibits 1-14. C-TRAN's operating ratio was 9.7 for calendar year 2010, the most recent audit. This operating ratio reflects C-TRAN's \$46.9 million in cash and cash equivalent reserves. C-TRAN has used these reserves to mitigate cash flow shortfalls. While service was cut in 2000 and 1999 in response to the loss of MVET funding, service has grown since. Through the use of its cash reserves, C-TRAN was able to address the impacts of the recent economic downturn with a 5% cut in under-performing trips as of January 2010.

B. Completeness of Operating Plan

- <u>TriMet</u>: A 20-year agency-wide cash flow of all operating and capital revenues and expenses is provided in Appendix A, Table 1. The build-up of the individual components of the cash flow is provided in detail in Appendix A, Tables 2-11. Ten years of historic data is provided in Appendix C, Exhibit 1 and Appendix D, Tables 1-8. All assumptions are detailed in Section 3 of this report. A sensitivity analysis is discussed in Section 3 and documented in Appendix B, Tables 12 and 13.
- <u>C-TRAN</u>: A 20-year agency-wide cash flow of all operating and capital revenues and expenses is provided in Appendix G, Table 1. The build-up of the individual components of the cash flow is provided in detail in Appendix G, Tables 2-21. Ten years of historic data is provided in Appendix C, Exhibit 2 and Appendix D, Exhibit 11, and detailed historic data is provided throughout Section 4. All assumptions are

detailed in Section 4 of this report. A sensitivity analysis was prepared and is documented in Appendix G, Tables 21-22, and summarized in Section 4.8.2.

C. Commitment of O&M Funds

- <u>TriMet</u>: Additional O&M funding is committed and a reasonable plan is being implemented to secure the remaining amount of O&M funding required for the 20-year plan. In 2003, TriMet received the legislative authority to increase the payroll tax for employers and self-employed from 0.6218% to 0.7218% over a 10-year phase-in period in one-hundredth of one percent per year increments. The TriMet Board approved the full increase on August 11, 2004; and the rate has already increased to 0.6918% as of January 2011.² In 2009 the Oregon Legislature gave the TriMet Board the authority to increase the payroll tax rate for employers and self-employed individuals from 0.7218 percent to 0.8218 percent. The legislation specifies that the increase must be phased-in and that no annual increase can exceed 0.02 percent. See Appendix D, Exhibit 10 *Senate Bill 34*. The plan anticipates that the TriMet Board would levy this payroll tax rate increase as of January 1, 2015 and that it would be totally phased-in by January 1, 2024, at which time the total payroll (and self-employment) tax would be 0.8218%.
- <u>C-TRAN</u>: A plan is in place to secure funding for C-TRAN's share of operating and maintaining the CRC Project light rail extension. The C-TRAN Board approved the 20-year Transit Development Plan, providing the policy basis for seeking additional operations funding. The C-TRAN Board has approved a funding measure for the November 2011 ballot that with voter approval would increase its sales and use tax rate under its PBTA authority by 0.2% (to a total of 0.7%) to preserve and expand its core bus and C-VAN services. (See Appendix D, Exhibit 12B). The Board has also adopted a resolution expressing its intent to seek a 0.1% sales and use tax under its HCT authority to fund light rail and bus rapid transit expansion. (See Appendix D, Exhibit 12A). This vote is anticipated to be in 2012.

D. O&M Funding Capacity

- <u>TriMet</u>: Under the plan, projected cash balances and reserves in the 20-year cash flow shown in Appendix A, Table 1 exceed 12% of annual system wide operating expenditures throughout the forecast period. The sensitivity analysis demonstrates that there are reasonable policy actions that TriMet Board can take if tax revenues grow slower or expenses grow faster than assumed in the cash flow tables.
- <u>C-TRAN</u>: With the planned sales and use tax rate increases, projected cash balances and reserves in the 20-year cash flow shown in Appendix G, Table 1 exceed 12% of annual system wide operating expenditures throughout the forecast period. The sensitivity analysis demonstrates that there are reasonable policy actions that C-

² See Appendix D, Exhibit 9 Ordinance No. 279 Revising Payroll and Self-Employment Tax Rates; Amending Chapters 13 and 14 of the TriMet Code

TRAN Board can take if tax revenues grow slower or expenses grow faster than assumed in the cash flow tables.

E. **Operating Cost Estimates and Planning Assumptions**

- <u>TriMet</u>: The assumptions supporting the operating and maintenance cost estimates and revenue forecasts are consistent with (or more conservative than) historical experience. The assumptions are explained in detail in Section 3. The build-up of individual costs and revenues are provided in Appendix A, Tables 2-11, and these can be compared to historic trends detailed in Appendix C, Exhibit 1 and D, Exhibits 1-8, and the supplemental information in Appendix I.
- <u>C-TRAN</u>: The assumptions supporting the operating and maintenance cost estimates and revenue forecasts are consistent with (or more conservative than) historical experience. The assumptions are explained in detail in Section 4. The build-up of individual costs and revenues are provided in Appendix G, Tables 2-21, and these can be compared to historic trends in Section 4, Appendix C, Exhibit 2, Appendix D, Exhibit 11, and the detailed historic data provided in Section 4.

1.9 Organization of Report

This report is organized as follows:

- Section 1 provides an overall introduction and summary of conclusions regarding the capital and operations plans.
- Section 2 details the plan to finance the design and construction of the CRC Light Rail Project.
- Section 3 addresses the TriMet agency-wide 20-year operations plan, including the 20-year capital plan beyond the CRC Light Rail Project. A 20-year cash flow and historical data are provided.
- Section 4 addresses the C-TRAN agency-wide 20-year operations plan, including the 20-year capital plan beyond the CRC Light Rail Project. A 20-year cash flow and historical data are provided.

In addition, this report includes the following appendices, which are included in the materials posted for FTA review:

Appendix A	TriMet Cash Flow Forecast
Table 1	Cash Flow
Table 2	Passenger Revenue
Table 3	Other Operating Revenue
Table 3A	One-Time-Only and DMAP Reimbursement
Table 4	Operating Grants and Capital Reimbursement
Table 5	Capital and Operating Project Grants
Table 6	Accessible Transportation Program Revenues

Table 7	Labor Cost Forecast
Table 8	Commuter Rail Forecast
Table 9	Capital Improvement Program
Table 10	Debt Service
Table 11	Complementary Paratransit Forecast
Appendix B	TriMet Agencywide Stress Test Forecasts
Table 12	TriMet Agencywide Pessimistic Forecast
Table 13	TriMet Agencywide Optimistic Forecast
Appendix C	Historical Transit System Financial Results
Exhibit 1	TriMet Historic Financial Summary
Exhibit 2	C-TRAN Historic Financial Summary
Appendix D	Historical Transit Service and Regulatory Information
Exhibit 1	TriMet Historic Expenses
Exhibit 2	TriMet Historic Employer Tax Revenues
Exhibit 3	TriMet Historic Passenger Revenues
Exhibit 4	TriMet District Historic Economic Data
Exhibit 5	TriMet Historic Ridership and Service Data
Exhibit 6	TriMet Long-Term Recurring Obligation History
Exhibit 7	TriMet Fixed Route Performance Indices History
Exhibit 8	TriMet District Population and Employment History
Exhibit 9	TriMet Ordinance No 279 Revising Payroll and Self-Employment Tax Rates under ORS 267.385 as Amended by 2003 Oregon House Bill 3183
Exhibit 10	Oregon 2009 Legislature Senate Bill 34
Exhibit 11	C-TRAN Historic Operating Statistics
Exhibit 12A	2010 C-TRAN Board Resolution Expressing Intent for Two Ballot Measures
Exhibit 12B	C-TRAN Board Resolution # BR 11-004; November 2011 Ballot Measure
Exhibit 13	TriMet Transit Historical Data on Transit Capacity and Population
Appendix E	Capital and Operations Cost Methodologies, Estimates, and Related Factors
Exhibit 1	
	Basis of Capital Cost Report
Exhibit 2	Basis of Capital Cost Report FTA Template-"Main Worksheet - Build Alternative" and "Inflation Worksheet"
Exhibit 2 Exhibit 3	FTA Template-"Main Worksheet - Build Alternative" and "Inflation Worksheet"
Exhibit 3	 FTA Template-"Main Worksheet - Build Alternative" and "Inflation Worksheet" Capital Costs Calculations Calculation of Interim Borrowing Cash Flow Capital Plan
	FTA Template-"Main Worksheet - Build Alternative" and "Inflation Worksheet"Capital Costs CalculationsCalculation of Interim Borrowing
Exhibit 3	 FTA Template-"Main Worksheet - Build Alternative" and "Inflation Worksheet" Capital Costs Calculations Calculation of Interim Borrowing Cash Flow Capital Plan Analysis of Borrowing Capacity from Tolling – Added Price Point Rate Schedule,
Exhibit 3 Exhibit 4	 FTA Template-"Main Worksheet - Build Alternative" and "Inflation Worksheet" Capital Costs Calculations Calculation of Interim Borrowing Cash Flow Capital Plan Analysis of Borrowing Capacity from Tolling – Added Price Point Rate Schedule, Low Estimate
Exhibit 3 Exhibit 4	 FTA Template-"Main Worksheet - Build Alternative" and "Inflation Worksheet" Capital Costs Calculations Calculation of Interim Borrowing Cash Flow Capital Plan Analysis of Borrowing Capacity from Tolling – Added Price Point Rate Schedule, Low Estimate Selected Credit Ratings
Exhibit 3 Exhibit 4	 FTA Template-"Main Worksheet - Build Alternative" and "Inflation Worksheet" Capital Costs Calculations Calculation of Interim Borrowing Cash Flow Capital Plan Analysis of Borrowing Capacity from Tolling – Added Price Point Rate Schedule, Low Estimate Selected Credit Ratings Washington/WSDOT
Exhibit 3 Exhibit 4	 FTA Template-"Main Worksheet - Build Alternative" and "Inflation Worksheet" Capital Costs Calculations Calculation of Interim Borrowing Cash Flow Capital Plan Analysis of Borrowing Capacity from Tolling – Added Price Point Rate Schedule, Low Estimate Selected Credit Ratings Washington/WSDOT Oregon/ODOT

Exhibit 8	Forecasts of Transit Operations and Maintenance Cost Report
Exhibit 9	2009 Washington Legislature SB 5352, Section 306 (12)
Exhibit 10	CRC Project Highway and Tolling O&M Costs
Appendix F	Fleet Management Plans
Exhibit 1	TriMet Bus Fleet Management Plan
Exhibit 2	TriMet Light Rail Transit Fleet Management Plan
Exhibit 3	C-TRAN Fleet Management Plan
Appendix G	C-TRAN Cash Flow
Table 1	C-TRAN 20-year Cash Flow
Table 2	Passenger Revenues
Table 3	Sales Tax and Other Revenues
Table 4	Grant Revenues
Table 5	Wage Costs
Table 6	Benefit Costs
Table 7	Service Costs
Table 8	Fuel Costs
Table 9	Other Supply Costs
Table 10	Utility Costs
Table 11	Taxes
Table 12	Insurance Costs
Table 13	Lease Costs
Table 14	Miscellaneous Costs
Table 15	Innovative Program Costs
Table 16	Rolling Stock Plan and Costs
Table 17	Facilities Plan and Costs
Table 18	Equipment Plan and Costs
Table 19	Capital Improvement BRT Costs
Table 20	Financial Charts
Table 21	Bond Sizing
Table 22	Sensitivity Test 1
Table 23	Sensitivity Test 2
Appendix H	C-TRAN Supplemental Information
Exhibit 1	Auditor's Report 2008
Exhibit 2	Auditor's Report 2009
Exhibit 3	Auditor's Report 2010
Exhibit 4	2008 Adopted Budget, C-TRAN.
Exhibit 5	2009 Adopted Budget, C-TRAN.
Exhibit 6	2010 Adopted Budget, C-TRAN.
Exhibit 7	C-TRAN Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2008
Exhibit 8	C-TRAN Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2009

Exhibit 9	C-TRAN Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2010
Exhibit 10	C-TRAN 20 Year Transit Development Plan
Exhibit 11	STIP Summary
Exhibit 12	RTC Metropolitan Transportation Plan for Clark County
Exhibit 13	Description of C-TRAN
Exhibit 14	20-Year C-TRAN Capital Plan
Appendix I	TriMet Supplemental Information
Exhibit 1	Financial Statement and Supplementary Information as of June 30, 2010 and 2009
Exhibit 2	Financial Statement and Supplementary Information as of June 30, 2009 and 2008
Exhibit 3	Financial Statement and Supplementary Information as of June 20, 2008 and 2007
Exhibit 4	2012 Adopted Budget
Exhibit 5	2011 Adopted Budget
Exhibit 6	2010 Adopted Budget
Exhibit 7	TriMet Official Statement TriMet 2009 Payroll Tax Bonds
Exhibit 8	2011-2015 Capital Improvement Plan
Exhibit 9	Transit Investment Plan
Exhibit 10	Regional Transportation Plan Projects
Exhibit 11	MTIP Approved Project List 2010-2013
Exhibit 12	Description of TriMet
Appendix J	Regional Supplemental Information
Exhibit 1	Metro, 20 and 50 Year Regional Population and Employment Range Forecasts, April 2009

2. CRC PROJECT CAPITAL FINANCE PLAN

This section addresses the capital finance plan for the CRC Project. The capital improvement and replacement plans of TriMet and C-TRAN beyond the CRC Project are addressed as part of the agency-wide operations plans in Sections 3 and 4 of this report.

2.1 Background

As explained in Section 1.1, the CRC Project capital finance plan is prepared on the basis of being an integrated, multimodal finance plan. The use of the integrated multimodal finance plan is mandated by the statutory language enacted in the *Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2010, Section 173 (H.R. 3288, December 9, 2009)*, which in summary provides that: ³

- The rating of the non-New Starts share component of the finance plan compares the non-New Starts share to the total cost of the entire project, and
- The accounting of local match for FTA and FHWA funds is based on the entirety of local funds incorporated in the finance plan.

The sections below describe the costs and revenues of the integrated finance plan and demonstrate its compliance with FTA ratings criteria.

2.2 **Project Development Schedule**

The project capital finance plan is based on a detailed baseline schedule, which is summarized below in Table 2-1.

³ "Hereafter, for interstate multi-modal projects which are in Interstate highway corridors, the Secretary shall base the rating under section 5309(d) of title 49, United States Code, of the non-New Starts share of the public transportation element of the project on the percentage of non-New Starts funds in the unified finance plan for the multi-modal project: Provided, That the Secretary shall base the accounting of local matching funds on the total amount of all local funds incorporated in the unified finance plan for the purposes of funding under Section 53 of title 49, United States Code and title 23, United States Code: Provided further, That the Secretary shall evaluate the justification for the project under section 5309(d) of title 49, United States Code, including cost effectiveness, on the public transportation costs and public transportation benefits."

Activity	Date
Publication of FEIS	September-11
Record of Decision (ROD) Issued	December-11
Washington Legislative Approval Authorizing Tolling for the CRC Project	March-12
Submit Letter of Interest for TIFIA Loan	March-12
Washington Legislative Approval of State Funding Contribution	March-12
Oregon Legislative Approval Committing State Funding Contribution	March-12
Submit Complete Application for Final Design	April-12
Receive Final Design Approval	September-12
Submit Application for Full Funding Grant Agreement	January-13
FTA Approval of Full Funding Grant Agreement for Section 5309 New Starts Funds	September-13
Initial Design-Build Contract Executed	October-13
New Southbound Bridge Open	July-18
Light Rail Service Starts	September-19
New Northbound Bridge Open	July-20

Table 2-1Major Milestone Schedule

2.3 Capital Cost Estimates for Multi-Modal CRC Project

2.3.1 Cost Estimating Methodology

The capital cost estimates cover all costs of developing and constructing the highway, bridge, bicycle/pedestrian, and light rail elements of these alternatives, including the cost of engineering, project administration, right-of-way acquisition, system procurement and installation, vehicle procurement, construction, finance, and start-up cost.

The capital cost estimate used in this New Starts finance plan reflect the results of the Washington Department of Transportation's (WSDOT) Cost Estimate Validation Process (CEVP), a risk assessment methodology that accounts for uncertainties that may cause project costs to increase. (See *Columbia River Crossing CVEP Final Report*, August 2011, in Appendix E, Exhibit 6). CEVP utilizes a detailed base cost estimate comprising over 1,000 line-items defined by capital element and area. For each line-item, a unit-cost, lump sum or percentage is designated based on the recent project cost experience of WSDOT, ODOT, TriMet, and other construction cost data bases and applicable quantities are estimated. (*See Basis of Capital Cost Report*, in Appendix E, Exhibit 1). The activities feeding into the line-item costs are then connected into a critical path chart based on a baseline project development schedule. CEVP then applies a project-specific array of potential scope risks, cost risks, schedule risks, and inflation factors to yield a probability curve of total cost estimates in year-of-expenditure dollars.

The capital cost estimate used in this finance plan is the "90% confidence level" estimate (referred to herein as the "90%" estimate) from CEVP, adjusted (as explained in the following paragraph) to comply with FTA's SCC methodology. The 90% estimate is the cost that would only be exceeded 10% of the time (i.e. there is a 90% probability that the

actual cost will be at or lower than the estimate) without any management or mitigation of the array of risks. This is a conservative cost estimate; the 60% estimate is frequently used for financial planning, recognizing that on an actual project cost overruns and schedule risks would be managed or mitigated.

While WSDOT employs CEVP cost estimates, FTA requires cost estimates for New Starts review to be in Standard Cost Categories (SCC) and to include an amount of contingency that FTA finds appropriate for the project's stage of development. Thus the CEVP cost estimates for the CRC Project needed to be converted to fit FTA requirements. The process for developing the SCC-formatted cost estimate began with the detailed, line-item base cost estimates developed through CEVP. Each line-item was assigned an allocated contingency defined by a percentage of line-item cost, with the percentage guided by past project experience.

For the SCC-formatted cost estimate, the contingency allocated to individual line-items plus additional unallocated contingency yielded a total project contingency of 27.6% of the base cost (or about 21.7% of total cost (i.e. base plus contingency).⁴ The resulting base cost and contingency by line-item was then rolled-up into the applicable SCC categories. These cost estimates by SCC category were then converted to year-of-expenditure costs by applying the most recent inflation factors developed by WSDOT for construction, engineering, and right-of-way. These inflation factors were assigned to the comparable SCC and a weighted annual escalation rate for each year was calculated and applied in the SCC spreadsheet.

Capital cost estimates are shown in year-of-expenditure dollars, which show the aggregate cost in inflated dollars. To develop the year-of-expenditure cost estimates, annual cost escalation rates were developed for major cost elements. Over the 11-year project development period, the assumed annual escalation rate for construction activities ranged from +1.49 percent to +3.62 percent.⁵ The assumed annual cost escalation rate ranged from 0.72 percent to 3.30 percent for engineering and from -3.99 percent to 7.74 percent for right-of-way.

While the Columbia River Crossing (CRC) project is an integrated multimodal project, the use of some funding sources is limited by law (for example, fuel tax revenues in Oregon and Washington may only be used for highway-related improvements). Thus, the capital cost estimates are divided into highway and transit components. Many project costs are easily allocated to transit or highway because they are distinctly attributable to one of the components; for example, the cost of mainline highway improvements where there is no transit alignment is a highway cost, and the cost of light rail track is a transit cost. However, the costs of some highway and transit improvements overlap and must be allocated between these components. The allocation methodology underlying the cost estimates is summarized below.

⁴ CEVP does not actually add contingency as is done in SCC cost estimates; it raises the cost estimate based on the occurrences of a risk array at a given confidence interval. The effective contingency derived from CEVP can be back-calculated by backing out inflation and comparing the result to the baseline cost estimate in current dollars.

⁵ Inflation rates are documented in CRC, Columbia River Crossing CVEP Final Report, (August 2011) and may change in later updates to the cost estimate

Columbia River Crossing Main Bridge Structure: Because one of the bridges crossing the Columbia River would incorporate highway and transit elements, the cost of the bridges can be apportioned into highway and transit costs. Transit's share of the bridge structure cost is the marginal cost incurred to accommodate transit, calculated as the difference between the cost of the stacked highway-transit bridge proposed for the project and the cost of an equivalent conventional box-girder bridge that does not accommodate the light rail alignment. The cost of removing the existing bridge structures is fully allocated to the highway cost. The cost of the transit tracks, electrification, and systems equipment on the main bridge is fully allocated to the transit cost. The transit structures crossing North Portland Harbor, Tomahawk Island Drive, and Hayden Island Drive are fully allocated to transit cost; and the associated highway structures are fully allocated to highway cost.

Right-of-Way: Right-of-way acquisition costs are also apportioned between transit and highway elements. The final apportionment will be based on a real estate acquisition management plan (RAMP), agreed to by FTA and FHWA following the Record of Decision (ROD) for this FEIS.

Engineering and Project Management/Administration: The highway and transit costs include their respective share of preliminary engineering and final design costs, calculated by applying multipliers⁶ to the construction costs of the highway and transit elements.

Based on these assumptions⁷:

Highway capital costs include the costs of designing, acquiring right-of-way for, and constructing the highway sections of the river crossing, mainline I-5 improvements, highway interchange improvements,⁸ local roadway connections to the highway interchanges, the bicycle and pedestrian improvements incorporated in the main river crossing and highway sections, and related project administration costs.

Transit capital costs include the costs of designing, procuring, installing, and constructing the transit guideway and related structures (including a share of the main river crossing); stations and park and ride facilities; maintenance facilities; electrification, signalization, and communication systems and equipment; related transit improvements; vehicles; bicycle/pedestrian improvements on transit-only structures; start-up costs; improvements to the Steel Bridge, and related project administration costs.

⁶ The transit costs assume that preliminary engineering costs would be 3 percent and final design costs would be 7 percent of the estimated transit construction cost. The same calculation was applied to highway costs.

⁷ The allocation of bicycle, pedestrian and other costs between highway and transit may be refined based on continuing discussions with FTA and FHWA.

⁸ The access road to the Clark Park and Ride, which is part of the Fourth Plain interchange improvement, is included in the transit cost.

2.3.2 Interim Borrowing Costs

The project finance plan requires an interim borrowing program to fill temporary funding shortfalls caused by the time lag between when New Starts funds are received and when they are needed to meet the construction expenditure schedule. It is anticipated that the state funds and toll bond proceeds will be available as needed for cash flow purposes. The federal discretionary funds incorporated in the finance plan are scheduled for use based on their expected availability, and do not add to the interim borrowing requirement.

Thus, the interim borrowing requirement is driven by the prolonged flow of Section 5309 New Starts funds. FTA guidance provides that project development planning assume a maximum annual allotment of New Starts funds for a project of \$100 million. At these levels of New Starts appropriations the New Starts funds do not keep pace with construction expenditures, necessitating an interim borrowing program.

The interim borrowing program is assumed to (a) start when the cumulative New Startseligible expenses exceeds the cumulative amount of New Starts funds available to the project and (b) end when the cumulative amount of New Start funds made available to the project equals the full amount of New Starts funds proposed in the finance plan. Due to the time it takes to receive grant funds, New Starts funds are assumed to be available for cost reimbursement in the April following passage of the appropriation.

While the structure of the interim borrowing program will depend on market conditions that exist at the time the program is funded, this finance plan assumes a commercial paper program in which funds are borrowed on a month-by-month basis as needed. It conservatively assumes a 5 percent interest rate, which is meant to account for interest and any administrative fees. Based on these assumptions, the project capital incorporates about \$69 million in estimated interim borrowing costs. The calculation of the interim borrowing requirement is provided in Appendix B, Exhibit 3A.

2.3.3 Cost Estimate for CRC LRT

The capital costs in 2011 and year of expenditure dollars (YOE\$) by standard cost categories are provided in FTA's templates "Main Worksheet – Build Alternative" and "Inflation Worksheet", which are provided in Appendix E, Exhibit 2. A summary of the cost estimate by component and SCC category is shown in Table 2-2, below.

Standard Cost Category	Highway Costs	Transit Cost	Total Cost
10 Guideway & Track Elements	\$983.5	\$175.4	\$1,159.0
20 Stations, Stops, Terminals & Intermodal	\$0.0	\$115.0	\$115.0
30 Support Facilities: Yards, Shops & Admin Buildings	\$0.0	\$44.6	\$44.6
40 Sitework & Special Conditions	\$533.0	\$92.1	\$625.1
50 Systems	\$24.5	\$57.9	\$82.4
60 Right-of-Way & Land Improvements	\$165.6	\$37.0	\$202.7
70 Vehicles	\$0.0	\$105.8	\$105.8
80 Professional Services	\$350.8	\$85.2	\$436.0
90 Unallocated Contingency	\$175.0	\$45.0	\$220.0
Total Project Cost in Base Year (2011) Dollars (without Finance Costs)	\$2,232.4	\$758.1	\$2,990.5
Escalation	\$331.4	\$116.5	\$447.9
100 Finance Costs (in YOE Dollars)	\$0.0	\$69.5	\$69.5
Total Project Costs in YOE Dollars	\$2,563.9	\$944.0	\$3,507.9

Table 2-2 Summary of Capital Cost by SCC and Component In Millions of Dollars

2.4 Proposed Capital Funding Sources

The following sub-sections describe the funding sources.

2.4.1 \$147.4 million in Currently Committed State Funds

An aggregate total of approximately \$225.2 million has already been committed to the project by ODOT and WSDOT; of which about \$77.8 million was spent prior to FTA's approval to enter Preliminary Engineering (PE). This finance plan addresses only the post-PE approval costs and revenues. Thus, about \$147.4 million of state funding is currently committed to the project, and a plan is in place to secure the remaining funds.

2.4.2 \$400 Million in Highway Discretionary Funds

While the project sponsors intend to seek funding from the Projects of National and Regional Significance (PNRS) program, the targeted amount of discretionary highway funds could come from an array of discretionary funding programs

The PNRS program was established under Section 1301 of SAFETEA-LU as a discretionary funding program, patterned after FTA's New Starts program, which provides funding to high-cost surface transportation projects (sometimes referred to as "mega-projects"). The criteria for funding from the PNRS program are set forth in FHWA regulations at 23 CFR 505, and include such factors as:

- Eligible project costs. Eligible project costs must exceed the lesser of \$500 million or 75 percent of the state's formula transportation funding apportionment;⁹
- The ability of the project to generate national and/or regional economic benefits;
- The amount and importance of freight and passenger travel served;
- The ability of the project to generate long-term congestion relief and enhance the national transportation system by improving throughput; and
- The ability of the project to improve transportation safety.

While funding allocation under the PNRS program was envisioned as a criteria-based administrative program, the entire \$1.8 billion funding authorization was earmarked to specific projects in SAFETEA-LU. Oregon received an award of \$160 million to improve bridges throughout the state in the I-5 corridor, and Washington received a \$220 million award for the Alaska Way Viaduct project. The aggregate amount of earmarks to Oregon and Washington of \$380 million is similar to the amount planned to be secured for the CRC Project.

The PNRS program is anticipated to continue in the upcoming reauthorization act; however, the extent to which PNRS funds will be earmarked in the act or awarded to projects by USDOT is uncertain. In either case, PNRS funding will be sought for the CRC project. While \$400 million would be a large earmark, the aggregate PNRS earmark received by Oregon and Washington in SAFETEA-LU illustrate the states' ability to obtain this amount.

An administrative grant would be sought if PNRS is not earmarked in reauthorization and instead left to operate as a FHWA discretionary program. The CRC Project would rate highly as a national project under the program's current criteria, as evidenced by the CRC Project's designation as a "*Corridor of the Future*" and a priority project under Executive Order 13274 for *Environmental Stewardship and Transportation Infrastructure Reviews*. While these specific designations may no longer be applicable, they indicate the national importance FHWA has historically placed on the project.

If PNRS funds are not sufficiently available for the CRC project, other discretionary highway funds will be sought, such as High Priority Projects (HPP) and Interstate Maintenance Discretionary (IMD) funds. Traditionally reauthorization bills include the HPP program, which generally provides funding to specific projects named in the bill. While HPP has not provided earmarks as large as PNRS, earmarks in the \$20-\$30 million range are not unusual. Earmarks from the HPP program could supplement monies from other programs, including PNRS. In SAFETEA-LU Oregon received \$307 million in HPP funds. Washington received \$250 million, including \$11.2 million for the Alaska Way Viaduct, which also received an earmark from the PNRS program. Between Oregon and Washington earmarks, the CRC Project received \$14.2 million in HPP funding in SAFETEA-LU; these monies were spent on pre-PE planning analyses.

⁹ For multi-state projects such as the CRC project, the largest apportionment among the participating states applies.

IMD funds may be used for reconstructing the Interstate System, including providing additional Interstate highway capacity. Currently about \$100 million per year is authorized nationwide under this program. Prior to PE approval, the CRC project received several grants from this discretionary program totaling about \$22 million, which was spent on pre-PE expenses. Recently, WSDOT received a \$2 million IMD grant and ODOT received a \$3 million IMD grant for the CRC Project as part of the 2011 awards. These \$5 million count toward the \$400 million targeted amount of highway discretionary funds in the finance plan.

2.4.3 \$900 Million in Additional (i.e.; beyond currently committed) State Funds

The funding plan calls for \$900 million in additional state transportation funds collectively from ODOT and WSDOT beyond the amounts already committed to the project and discussed in Section 2.4.1, above. ODOT and WSDOT are each responsible for one-half of the aggregate amount.

These funds can come entirely from new revenues that are legislatively approved for the CRC Project or a combination of new revenues and existing revenues. The current plan is to pursue new revenues for the project. New revenues may be created by increasing one or more of the statewide fees or taxes. While the actual package of taxes, fees, and other revenue sources that may be used to fund each state's share of CRC capital costs must be developed through their legislative processes, potential sources of new state revenues are described below.

2.4.3.1 Oregon

ODOT is working with interim legislative committees with regard to the CRC Project, and currently anticipates seeking new revenues in the 2012 legislative session to fund its \$450 million share of additional state funds.

While the package of new revenues must be resolved through the legislative process, that package may include an increased fuel tax. The Oregon legislature may increase the fuel tax rate by vote of the legislature. The use of any revenues resulting from an increase to the fuel tax would be set in the legislation enacting the increase. Oregon currently levies a 30¢ per gallon tax on all fuels used for vehicle transportation. ODOT estimates that in fiscal year (FY) 2011 the fuel tax will gross about \$17.8 million per penny of tax (from *ODOT, Summary of Transportation Economic and Revenue Forecasts, September 2010 (released February 2011)*). State law requires certain transfers and expenses be paid from gross fuel tax revenues; as a result, a 1¢ fuel tax in FY 2011 is forecast to produce about \$17.0 million net revenues for transportation projects.¹⁰ The net fuel tax revenues are generally allocated between the state, counties, and cities.

¹⁰ The fuel tax is customarily paired with an equivalent amount of motor carrier fees and taxes; the net proceeds forecasted for FY 2011 from a 1¢ fuel tax with these equivalent taxes and fees is about \$27.1 million. The Oregon Constitution restricts the use of fuel tax revenues to highway purposes only.

Oregon also levies several fees and taxes on heavy trucks, including weight-mile taxes, heavy vehicle registration fee, trip permits, and other fees paid by motor carriers. Taken together these are referred to as "motor carrier fees and taxes." The Oregon legislature may increase motor carrier fees and taxes by vote of the legislature. The use of any revenues resulting from an increase in motor carrier fees or taxes would be set forth in the legislation enacting the increase.

The Oregon Constitution restricts the use of fuel tax and truck-related revenues to highway purposes only. The Oregon Constitution also requires the proportion of highway revenues paid among the major vehicle classes, primarily passenger vehicles and heavy trucks, match the relative financial burden each places on the transportation system. This concept is commonly referred to as "cost responsibility." To maintain cost responsibility, any increase in the fuel tax rate may be paired with a proportionate increase in taxes on heavy trucks. An increase in motor carrier fees and taxes proportionate to a 1¢ increase in fuel tax would generate about \$10.1 million in net proceeds in FY2011.Accordingly, a 1¢ increase in fuels tax plus an equivalent increase in motor carrier taxes and fees would annually produce \$27.1 million in net revenues on average.

Thus, for example, if all of the proceeds from an Oregon 1.5¢ fuel tax plus an equivalent increase in motor carrier taxes and fees were dedicated to a multi-year revenue stream, the revenue stream would produce about \$510 million in net bond proceeds.¹¹ Oregon collects a variety of Department of Motor Vehicle (DMV) fees, including vehicle registration fees, title fees, driver license fees, and other fees. One or more of these fees can be increased to fund a transportation improvement program and, thereby, reduce the required increases from gas tax and motor carrier fees. The amount of required new revenues may also be decreased by allocating existing revenues to the project.

2.4.3.2 Washington

Governor Gregoire has formed the *Connecting Washington Task Force* and charged it with identifying revenue sources to address top priorities, including the CRC Project. The Task Force includes the Chairs and Ranking Members of State House and Senate transportation committees, organized labor, trade associations, businesses, and others; the Governor serves as chair. The Task Force will present its recommendations to the 2012 Legislature. While the components of the recommendation depend on the results of the Task Force process, it could include a fuels tax increase.

The State of Washington currently levies a 37.5¢ per gallon fuels tax on gasoline and other "special" transportation fuels. The proceeds from these fuel taxes are estimated to gross about \$33.3 million per 1¢ of tax in FY 2011 (*March 2011 Transportation, Economic, and Revenue Forecast, Transportation Revenue Forecast Council*). After deducting a variety of expenses and transfers mandated by state law, a 1¢ combined gas and special fuels tax is estimated to net about \$31.7 million in FY 2011. The Washington state constitution limits the use of proceeds from the state fuels tax to highway purposes.

¹¹ Assumes issuance of uniform-payment, subordinated highway revenue bonds with a 25-year term, 6 percent annual interest, 2 percent issuance costs, and coverage supplied by other revenues.

The allocation of the fuels tax proceeds in Washington depends on the provisions in the legislation enacting each increase. A share of existing fuels tax revenues is generally allocated among the state, cities, and counties; the allocation formula among these recipients has varied in different fuels tax legislation. The use or allocation of any future increases to the fuel tax would be set forth in the legislation enacting the increase. If, for example, the entire proceeds of a 1¢ Washington fuel tax (no allocation to cities and counties) were dedicated to a multi-year revenue stream, the revenue stream would produce about \$428 million in net bond proceeds for highway projects.¹²

In Washington, licensing fees for trucks, buses, and for-hire vehicles consist of combination of a fee based on the gross weight of the vehicle (gross weight fee) and an additional fee of 1 dollar. The gross weight fee schedule for trucks was increased by 15 percent as part of the Nickel Package. The Transportation Partnership Account legislation increased the licensing fee for light trucks, except for farm vehicles, by \$10 to \$30, depending on weight. Registration fees for passenger cars consist of a combination of a \$30 license fee plus a fee that depends on the gross weight of the vehicle (vehicle weight fee). The vehicle weight fee was introduced as part of the Transportation Partnership Account legislation.

Each \$1 increase to the basic vehicle license fee in Washington is estimated to produce almost \$4.9 million in FY 2011. Each 1 percent increase in the combined license fee (CLF) on commercial vehicles in Washington would produce about \$1.7 million in 2011.

2.4.4 \$850 Million in Section 5309 New Start Funds

\$850 million in New Starts funds are proposed for the CRC Project. The schedule assumes the Full Funding Grant Agreement would be executed in September 2013. Some acquisition and construction would be undertaken prior to the FFGA under the automatic pre-award authorities that are available with issuance of the ROD and Final Design approval, and some under Letter of No Prejudice (LONP) project sponsors anticipate requesting.

After the first year of New Start appropriations at \$57 million in 2014, the finance plan assumes an annual amount of New Starts funds that is the lesser of (a) \$100 million or (b) the amount of New Start eligible expenses in that year, up to a cumulative total of \$850 million in New Start funds.

2.4.5 Interim Borrowing Program

As discussed in Section 2.3.2, the project must establish an interim borrowing program to fill temporary funding shortfalls caused by the difference between when New Start funds are received versus when they are needed to meet the construction expenditure schedule. To meet project needs, this program must be sized to provide up to an estimated \$360 million in interim borrowing capacity. The calculation of interim borrowing requirements and costs is shown in Appendix E, Exhibit 3A.

¹² Assumes uniform-payment highway revenue bonds with a 30-year term, 6 percent annual interest, 2 percent issuance costs, and coverage supplied by other revenues.

Interim borrowing capacity may be provided in a manner similar to that used for TriMet's recent light rail transit projects; in which the monies in the Full Funding Grant Agreement are pledged to repay commercial paper, a letter of credit, or other form of borrowing; possibly backed with other project revenues. This analysis assumes a rolling commercial paper program at a conservatively assumed 5% interest

Washington legislation may be sought similar to that enacted for the SR-520 Project, which would permit sales and use taxes applicable to the CRC Project to be deferred until five years after completion of the project. This may reduce the interim borrowing capacity requirements by about \$60 million.

2.4.6 \$1.2 Billion from Tolling (Loans, Bonds, and Pay-Go Cash)

2.4.6.1 Introduction

As explained in Section 1, under the CRC Project the I-5 Bridge would be tolled. Toll revenues are planned to be used for borrowings (loans and bonds supported by post-completion tolling) and pay-go cash (from pre-completion tolling and net residual toll revenues) to pay for capital expenses. In total, the capital finance plan for the CRC Project depends on toll revenues to cover about 35 percent of project costs. In addition, the toll revenues may provide capacity to address any project cost overruns and/or revenue shortfalls in other project revenues. The following sub-sections describe the steps to be taken to implement tolling and the estimated revenues that it would produce. Specifically, the following factors are addressed:

- The authority to toll the new bridge
- Toll rate structure
- The cost of operating the bridge/highway component of the CRC Project (note that the transit operating costs are addressed in Sections 3 and 4 of this report)
- Estimation of net toll revenues available to the capital finance plan
- Financing assumptions
- Borrowing capacity (loan and bonds) from post-completion tolling
- Pay-Go cash from pre-completion tolling revenue
- Pay-Go cash from residual toll revenues

2.4.6.2 Authority

23 U.S.C 129(a)(1)(C) permits states to toll a bridge on the Interstate System when the bridge is either being replaced or reconstructed, as is the case for the CRC project. Federal statutes delegate to the states decisions regarding toll rate schedules and the time when tolls can first be charged, except that tolls may not be imposed prior to awarding the initial construction contract. The decision as to the time when tolls are removed is also reserved for the states. As a pre-requisite to tolling the I-5 bridges, WSDOT and ODOT must enter into a tolling agreement with FHWA. This tolling agreement will require that toll revenues be first used for debt service and the operation and maintenance of the bridge. The use of toll revenues exceeding the amount needed for debt service or operations and maintenance is subject to state laws and regulations.

Under current state statutes, the toll rate schedule for the I-5 bridges (i.e., the toll rates by time of day, day of week, vehicle classification, and applicable discounts, if any) must be

formally set by the state transportation commissions through specific processes set in state law and further detailed in a bi-state agreement between WSDOT and ODOT.

At this time, ODOT has general statutory authority to toll facilities it owns, including the I-5 bridges, no additional authority is required. Under Washington law, WSDOT is provided tolling authority on a project-by-project basis. WSDOT currently operates two toll facilities (Tacoma Narrows Bridge and SR 167 high occupancy toll [HOT] Lane) and will open a third toll facility (SR 520) in late 2011. WSDOT is not currently authorized to toll the I-5 bridges; but is 2/3^{rds} through a three-legislative session plan to secure the state authority. It is following a process patterned after the process successfully used to secure tolling authority for the SR-520 project in the Seattle region. During the 2009 session the Washington legislature mandated¹³ that WSDOT undertake a technical analysis and outreach program regarding tolling the CRC Project and report back to the legislature in 2010. The technical study and outreach program were completed and a final report was submitted to the Governor and legislature in compliance with state law. WSDOT now anticipates seeking the toll authorization in the 2012 Legislature.

2.4.6.3 Toll Rate Schedule and Gross Toll Revenue Forecasting

As explained above, the toll rate schedule for the I-5 bridges (i.e., the toll rates by timeof-day, day-of-week, vehicle classification, and applicable discounts, if any) must be formally set by the state transportation commissions through specific processes set in state law and the bi-state agreement between WSDOT and ODOT. An analysis was undertaken to examine the traffic and revenue impacts of a broad array of toll scenarios; several of which are documented in the FEIS. This finance plan report focuses on the Toll Rate Schedule 2 (Added Price Point) in the FEIS; the finance plan would be generally similar with other toll rate schedules, although some specific numbers would differ.

Table 2-3 provides the assumed weekday toll rate schedules for passenger cars by time period. Toll rate schedules are shown for "post-completion tolls," which is when two-way tolling starts after completion of the new southbound I-5 bridge in July 2018 (post-completion tolling), and for "pre-completion tolls," which is when two-way tolls are collected on the existing I-5 bridges prior to the completion of the new southbound I-5 bridge. The rates shown are one-way tolls. A round-trip would pay tolls in each direction at the appropriate rate for the time period of each crossing. Toll rates are expressed in 2006 dollars to be consistent with previous studies. These rates are assumed to be increased on average at 2.5 percent annually.¹⁴ Thus, for example, the peak-period toll rate for an automobile with a transponder under the Base toll rate schedule (\$2.00 in 2006 dollars) would be \$2.69 in 2018 when the new southbound I-5 bridge opens for traffic.

¹³ 2009 Washington Legislature SB 5352, Section 306 (12) (See Appendix E, Exhibit 9)

¹⁴ Toll rate increases must be approved in accordance with the processes set forth in a bi-state tolling agreement, and under current state law will require approval by the Oregon Transportation Commission and Washington Transportation Commission.

Toll Rates for Autos in Each Direction a,b,c,d			
Time Period	Post Completion Toll Rate Schedule 2 Added Price Point	Pre-completion Toll Rate Schedule ^f	
12 AM–5 AM	\$1.00	\$0.00	
5 AM-6 AM	\$1.50	\$1.50	
6 AM–7 AM	\$2.00	\$2.00	
7 AM-9 AM	\$2.50	\$2.00	
9 AM-10 AM	\$2.00	\$2.00	
10 AM–3 PM	\$1.75	\$1.50	
3 PM-4 PM	\$2.00	\$2.00	
4 PM-6 PM	\$2.50	\$2.00	
6 PM–7 PM	\$2.00	\$2.00	
7 PM–8 PM	\$1.50	\$1.50	
8 PM-12 AM	\$1.00	\$0.00	
Pay-by-plate Surcharge ^g	\$1.22	\$1.22	

 Table 2-3

 Toll Rate Schedule Scenarios - One-Way Toll Rates

A Toll rates are shown in 2006 dollars. Toll rates are assumed to escalate at 2.5% per year. Thus, for example, a \$2.00 toll in 2006 dollars would be about \$2.21 in 2010 dollars.

B Medium trucks, defined as vehicles with three or four axles, are assumed to have a toll rate that is twice the rates shown above for autos.

C Large trucks, defined as vehicles with five or more axles, are assumed to have a toll rate that is four times the rates shown above for autos.

D The actual toll rates imposed through the formal toll setting may differ from these scenarios.

E Toll rates charged after the new southbound I-5 bridge is opened for traffic operations.

F Toll rates on existing I-5 bridges, prior to completion of the new southbound I-5 bridge

G The pay-by-plate surcharge, shown in 2006 dollars, is applicable to all types of vehicles and does not change by time of day. The surcharge represents an average of the anticipated added cost to collect these tolls compared to costs for vehicles with transponders. The surcharge would change as the cost to collect these tolls increases; the escalation rate is anticipated to be lower than the cost of inflation.

Toll rates for commercial vehicles are assumed to be proportionately greater than for passenger cars, roughly based on the number of axles. Many toll facilities follow this approach including, for example, the Tacoma Narrows Bridge. For the purposes of this analysis, it is assumed that large-sized commercial vehicles (five or more axles) would pay four times the passenger car rate for the given time of day, and medium-sized commercial vehicles (three- or four-axle vehicles) would pay two times the passenger car rate for the given time of day. The actual toll rates for commercial vehicles will be determined in the formal toll rate–setting process.

Forecasts of bridge traffic volumes and gross toll revenues were computed for the assumed toll rate schedule (and others). The process consisted of employing Metro's regional travel demand models, which incorporated a toll sub-model based on an extensive stated preference survey of passenger and freight travel. Those results were "post-processed" using a micro-simulation traffic assignment model (VISSIM) to refine

the assignments. The Metro model results and "post-processed" results were provided to Stantec, a consulting firm with worldwide experience in toll analyses, which prepared a range of gross toll revenues by creating hour-by-hour traffic volumes by vehicle type and toll payment method and applying the appropriate toll rate. This was done on a year-byyear basis for about thirty-five years of operation.

2.4.6.4 Toll/Bridge Operating Costs and Conversion of Gross Toll Revenues to Net Toll Revenues

The costs of toll operations and maintaining and rehabilitating the bridge were estimated on the basis of comparable operations on the Tacoma Narrows Bridge, as well as the current I-5 and I-205 Bridges. Specifically, the following costs were estimated:

- Routine highway facility O&M costs (i.e.; the annual costs of operating and maintaining the roadway and bridges)
- Routine annual toll collection costs (i.e.; the annual fixed and variable (per transaction) costs of collecting tolls and maintaining toll equipment)
- Bridge insurance costs, including property damage and business loss
- Periodic rehabilitation and replacement facility costs (i.e.; resurfacing, bridge inspections, etc.)
- Periodic rehabilitation and replacement of tolling equipment and software

Additional details are shown in *CRC Project Highway and Tolling O&M Costs*. (See Appendix E, Exhibit 10).

The net toll revenues pledged to borrowings or used on a cash basis to pay projects expenses exclude the toll revenues used to pay the operating and maintenance costs of toll collection and the facility summarized above, as well as credit card transaction fees and uncollectible accounts.

2.4.6.5 Financing Assumptions and Factors

Net toll revenues are used to fund the CRC project by (a) pledging net toll revenues to repay bonds and loans and using the proceeds to pay project costs and/or (b) directly using the net toll revenues on a cash basis to pay project costs. The majority of toll funding for the project comes from borrowings that are repaid with a multiyear stream of net toll revenues.

The funding capacity of a toll rate schedule depends on the financing structure employed. This analysis used for its estimates a baseline financing structure consisting of the following major assumptions:

- While it is anticipated that toll rates will escalate at 2.5 percent per year, the estimated financial capacity of the toll bonds and loans do not rely on any escalation in toll rates after the start of post-completion tolling in July 2018. This is a conservative assumption to reduce the financial risk of toll-backed borrowings.
- Net toll revenues from post-completion tolling would be used to repay a \$500 million TIFIA loan. While this finance plan assumes a \$500 million TIFIA loan, the final mix and amount of TIFIA loans and toll bonds will depend on the ultimate availability of

TIFIA. The project sponsors would seek the maximum appropriate TIFIA award available to the CRC Project.

• In addition to the TIFIA loan, net toll revenues would be used to repay toll bonds backed by a state general obligation and/or highway trust fund pledge.

The following summarizes the assumptions used to determine the borrowing capacity of the net toll revenues:

- For the TIFIA loan:
 - The assumed interest rate on the TIFIA loan is 5.50 percent; about 210 basis points higher than the 3.42 percent rate quoted for a 35-year loan on the TIFIA website for August 19, 2011.
 - A 10 percent coverage factor is assumed (i.e.; net toll revenues must be at least 1.1 times aggregate debt service each year).
 - The loan would be repaid in 35 years following completion of the project.
- For the state-backed bonds:
 - A blend of serial Current Interest Bonds (CIBs) and Capital Appreciation Bonds (CABs) are used to tailor debt repayment to match the revenue stream.
 - A 6.0% interest rate for Current Interest Bonds and a 7.25% interest rate for Capital Appreciation Bonds. These interest rates are assumed to be constant over the maturity periods of the bonds.
 - Bonds are assumed to be sold in multiple annual issues
 - Bonds are assumed to be 30-year state-backed debt.
 - A 1.25X debt service coverage factor is maintained on the state-backed bonds.
 - For each bond issuance, the gross bond proceeds are sized to include capitalized interest to cover interest payments prior to the start of revenue operations.
 - Issuance costs include an underwriter's discount of 0.5% for Current Interest Bonds and 1.0% for Capital Appreciation Bonds plus a 0.2% to cover other issuance costs.

2.4.6.6 Borrowing Capacity of Toll Revenues

Table 2-4 shows the range of net borrowing proceeds potentially available from each of the toll rate scenarios. The borrowing capacities shown in Table 2-4 are the amount of proceeds available to pay for project design and construction after deducting bond proceeds used for capitalized interest, issuance costs, and reserves. Borrowing capacity is shown as a range to reflect the possibility that revenue collections, facility operations and maintenance costs, financing costs, timing of the toll bonds, and/or other factors affecting the amount of net bond proceeds may differ from the assumptions used. The "High" estimate reflects the traffic volumes resulting from the post-processing methodology, and serve as the basis for the traffic impact analysis in the FEIS. The "Medium" estimate reflects traffic volumes about 7-8% below the High estimate, and the "Low" estimate reflects traffic volumes about 15% below the Medium estimate. To employ a

conservative methodology, the financial plan is based on the Low estimates of borrowing capacity shown in Table 2-4.

Table 2-4Initial Borrowing Capacity of Net Toll RevenuesIn Billions of Year-of-Expenditure Dollars

Point in Range ^c	Post-completion ^d Toll Rate Schedule 2	Pre-completion Tolls Add-on ^e
Low	\$1.005	\$0.204
Medium	\$1.195	\$0.249
High	\$1.281	\$0.292

a Net bond proceeds for the design and construction costs; excludes proceeds used for issuance costs, capitalized interest, and reserves.

b While the project sponsors will seek the maximum appropriate TIFIA loan, the estimates in this Exhibit assume a \$500 million TIFIA loan combined with f state-backed senior bonds.

c A range of funding is shown for each schedule, reflecting the potential variability in traffic forecasts, financing assumptions, and schedule.

d Post-completion toll rate schedules assume that toll collection starts when the new southbound I-5 bridge opens for general traffic operations.

e Pre-completion funding capacity assumes that (a) two-way tolls start in July 2014 and pre-completion tolling ends when the new southbound bridge opens in 2018 and (b) these toll revenues are used on a cash basis. Thus, this amount is an add-on to the post- completion toll bond capacity for each of the toll rate schedules.

Additional detail on the post-completion borrowing program assumed in this finance plan is shown in *Borrowing Analysis for Toll Schedule 2: Added Price Point – Low Estimate* (See Appendix E, Exhibit 4).

2.4.6.7 Pre-completion Toll Revenues

The finance plan includes revenues from tolling the existing I-5 bridges prior to the completion of the new southbound bridge, which is referred to as pre-completion tolling. By providing early toll revenues for project construction, pre-completion tolling can be used to provide additional revenues for project construction, reduce the amount of toll bond proceeds used to pay capitalized interest, and/or reduce the long-term post-completion toll rates. The \$204 million – \$292 million potentially available from pre-completion tolling shown in Table 2-4 assumes:

- The pre-completion toll rate schedule shown in Table 2-3.
- Pre-completion tolling would start, if required, as early as mid-2014 and continue until the new southbound bridge opens in mid-2018, when post-completion tolling begins.
- Facility operations and maintenance costs for the existing bridges are funded by ODOT and WSDOT as currently, and not from toll revenues.
- Net toll revenues from pre-completion tolling would pay project costs on a cash (payas-you-go) basis. Thus, for this analysis, the potential pre-completion tolling

contribution can be viewed as an add-on to the post-completion funding capacity for each of the tolling scenarios.¹⁵

While Table 2-4 shows a range of forecasts for pre-completion toll revenues, the finance plan uses only the "Low" estimate.

2.4.6.8 Residual Toll Revenues

Because the toll bonding scenarios assume a portion of the net toll revenues would provide coverage to supply a funding cushion for debt service and operating costs and the initial toll bonds would not rely on toll revenues from toll rate increases imposed after the opening of the new southbound bridge, there would be "residual toll revenues" available each year after the southbound bridge opens for traffic.

A portion of these residual toll revenues would be required to pay for ongoing repair and replacement costs and also to fund prudent reserves for purposes such as operations and maintenance, repair and replacement, and toll rate stabilization. However, residual toll revenues not needed for repair and replacement costs or reserves could be used to pay for later stages of capital construction, including project elements that were deferred due to initial budget constraints. Residual toll revenues made available for capital construction could be used on a cash basis, the assumption used in this finance plan, or capitalized through future borrowings after the toll rate increase is imposed. Alternatively, these revenues may be used to accelerate repayment of toll bonds and/or mitigate the need for future toll rate increases.

2.5 The Capital Finance Plan

2.5.1 Cash Flow Plan

Table 2-5 illustrates the capital finance plan on a cash-flow basis based on the above factors and assumptions, a cash flow. The cash-flow requirements are aligned with both the political and administrative timing of receiving funding approvals as well as the technical requirements of the design, construction, and procurement activities themselves.

2.5.2 Capital Funding Capacity

The project capital plan provides funding capacity to respond to unanticipated costrevenue imbalances in several ways, as outlined in the subsections that follow:

2.5.2.1.1 Employ Conservative Assumptions regarding Costs and Revenues to Reduce Risks and Provide a Genuine Opportunity for Additional Funding Capacity from the Base Finance Plan

CEVP produces a distribution of cost estimates reflecting the confidence that a cost estimate will not be exceeded. The finance plan in this New Starts submittal incorporates the 90% CEVP cost estimate. Customarily, WSDOT uses the 60% CEVP cost estimate for project planning purposes. Basing the finance plan on 90% CEVP cost estimates, as

¹⁵ Pre-completion tolling could also be used as part of a bond program with post-completion tolling.

opposed to the more routinely used 60% CEVP estimates, provides a potential cushion of about \$350 million to address capital cost overruns and/or funding under-runs. In addition, the use of the Low estimate of toll revenues potentially provides for \$235-\$364 million of added capital revenues, compared to the Base and High estimates, from a combination of toll bonds, loans, and cash revenues. Further, the use of borrowing interest rates that are 140-210 basis points above current rates may add additional funding capacity.

2.5.2.1.2 Adjust Project Staging if required to Rebalance the Funding Plan

Some highway improvements (i.e.; the interchanges not physically connected to the bridge) can be deferred if costs of core project elements exceed estimates. This would allow the funding associated with the deferred elements to be used for cost overruns/funding shortfalls on the core improvements. In addition, the finance plan uses a relatively small amount of residual toll revenues; larger and on-going residual toll revenues are available to fund deferred project improvements on a cash basis or used to repay future borrowings, if required.

Table 2-5 CRC Funding Plan for New Starts Submittal 2011 In Millions of Year-of-Expenditure Dollars

	FFY2010	FFY2011	FFY2012	FFY2013	FFY2014	FFY2015	FFY2016	FFY2017	FFY2018	FFY2019	FFY2020	FFY2021	FFY2022	TOTAL
CAPITAL COST														
Highway PE, Final Eng. and Construction	\$21.3	\$23.6	\$74.5	\$107.1	\$395.8	\$442.7	\$457.1	\$427.4	\$156.8	\$195.2	\$175.2	\$80.5	\$6.6	\$2,563.9
Transit PE, Design and Construction	\$5.4	\$4.7	\$3.1	\$27.1	\$61.1	\$165.7	\$233.7	\$243.9	\$93.1	\$34.1	\$2.5	\$0.0		\$874.5
Interim Finance Costs: Transit					\$0.5	\$0.2	\$4.3	\$11.5	\$16.2	\$15.2	\$11.7	\$7.3	\$2.7	\$69.5
Total Project Capital Cost	\$26.7	\$28.3	\$77.6	\$134.2	\$457.4	\$608.7	\$695.1	\$682.8	\$266.0	\$244.5	\$189.4	\$87.7	\$9.3	\$3,507.9
PROJECT REVENUES														
Fed. Discretionary Highway						\$100.0	\$100.0	\$100.0	\$100.0					\$400.0
ODOT/WSDOT: Existing	\$26.7	\$28.3	\$77.6	\$14.8										\$147.4
ODOT/WSDOT: Additional				\$119.4	\$400.4	\$355.2	\$24.9							\$900.0
Post Completion Toll Bond Proceeds							\$281.1	\$270.4	-\$2.9	\$195.2	\$175.2	\$80.5	\$5.4	\$1,004.9
Residual Toll Revenues													\$1.2	\$1.2
Pre-Completion Toll Revenues						\$36.6	\$51.1	\$57.0	\$59.7					\$204.4
Section 5309 New Start Funds					\$57.0	\$100.0	\$100.0	\$100.0	\$100.0	\$100.0	\$100.0	\$100.0	\$93.0	\$850.0
Interim Borrowed Funds						\$16.9	\$138.0	\$155.3	\$9.2	(\$50.6)	(\$85.7)	(\$92.7)	(\$90.3)	\$0.0
Total Project Revenues	\$26.7	\$28.3	\$77.6	\$134.2	\$457.4	\$608.7	\$695.1	\$682.8	\$266.0	\$244.5	\$189.4	\$87.7	\$9.3	\$3,507.9
Cumulative Federal Funds					\$57.0	\$257.0	\$457.0	\$657.0	\$857.0	\$957.0	\$1,057.0	\$1,157.0	\$1,250.0	
Cumulative Local Funds	\$26.7	\$55.0	\$132.7	\$266.9	\$667.3	\$1,059.1	\$1,416.2	\$1,743.7	\$1,800.5	\$1,995.6	\$2,170.8	\$2,251.2	\$2,257.9	
Cumulative Total Funds	\$26.7	\$55.0	\$132.7	\$266.9	\$724.3	\$1,316.1	\$1,873.2	\$2,400.7	\$2,657.5	\$2,952.6	\$3,227.8	\$3,408.2	\$3,507.9	
Percent Local	100%	100%	100%	100%	92%	80%	76%	73%	68%	68%	67%	66%	64%	

2.5.2.4 Adapt Tolling to Different Circumstances if required to Rebalance the Funding Plan

Toll rates can be adjusted within reasonable amounts if additional funding capacity is required. Tolling analyses found that gross toll revenues can be increased by raising toll rates up to almost \$6.00 (2006\$) each way, after which the diversion impacts of higher rates exceeds the added revenues the higher rates produce. Toll rates that high are not being proposed. However, the analysis demonstrates that an increased toll rate schedule can produce additional funding capacity, if that was required.

2.5.2.5 Manage State Highway Trust Funds to Adapt to Different Circumstances

The Departments of Transportation manage their respective highway trust funds, which are primarily funded with formula federal funds and existing state transportation taxes and fees, to meet the cash-flow needs of their state highway programs. Some of the monies in the highway trust funds are dedicated to specific uses through legislation or existing commitments and are unavailable to the CRC Project. However, the DOTs are able to and are experienced with reprogramming undedicated and non-committed funds within their highway trust funds to respond to cash-flow needs or priority projects, such as the Columbia River Crossing.